## **Czech University of Life Sciences Prague**

## **Faculty of Environment Sciences**

Diploma thesis, 2017

Ву

# **Daniel C. Anyamene**

# **Czech University of Life Sciences Prague**

## Faculty of Environment Sciences

## **Department of Environmental Geoscience**

Apportionment of sources of industrial contamination by isotope composition analysis - case study in Ostrava, Czech Republic

# **Diploma thesis**

Supervisor: Ing. Hana Sillerova, Ph.D.

Author: Daniel C. Anyamene (2017).

## CZECH UNIVERSITY OF LIFE SCIENCES PRAGUE

Faculty of Environmental Sciences

# **DIPLOMA THESIS ASSIGNMENT**

Daniel Chukwuma Anyamene

**Environmental Geosciences** 

Thesis title

Identification of sources of Pb in soil by isotope composition analysis – case study in Ostrava, Czech Republic

#### **Objectives of thesis**

The isotope composition of metals in the environment reflects the mixing of their sources, and source apportionment can be quantified in cases where all potential sources are characterized and have specific ratios. Metal isotope studies thus provide a convenient approach for studying and tracing the sources of pollution in different environmental compartments.

The aim of the study is to determine Pb concentration and Pb isotope composition in soil profiles from different sampling site in Ostrava (Czech Republic) and evaluate the input of each source to the environment.

#### Methodology

Soil profiles from 6 sites in the Ostrava region will be decomposed in a mixture of acid (HNO3, HCl and HF) and anlysed for metal(loid) (Cr, Cd, Ni, Zn, Pb, As, Cu) content. Subsequently the upper soil horizons will be analysed for Pb isotope composition in order to identify sources of Pb in the local environment.

#### The proposed extent of the thesis

60

#### Keywords

soil, industrial contamination, lead, isotopes

#### **Recommended information sources**

Francová, A., Chrastný, V., Šillerová, H., Vítková, M., Kocourková, J., Komárek, M., 2016. Evaluating the suitability of different environmental samples for tracing atmospheric pollution in industrial areas. Environmental Pollution, In Press

Komárek, M., Ettler, V., Chrastný, V., Mihaljevič, M., 2008. Environ. Inter. 34, 562-577

Ratié, G., Quantin, C., Jouvin, D., et al., 2016. Applied Geochem. 64, 136-145

Wiederhold, J.G., 2015. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 2606-2624.

Wies, D.J., Rehkamper, M., Schoenberg, R., McLaughlin, M., et al., 2008. Application of nontraditional stable-isotope systems to the study of sources and fate of metals in the environment. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1, 655-664.

Expected date of thesis defence 2016/17 SS – FES

**The Diploma Thesis Supervisor** Ing. Hana Šillerová, Ph.D.

## Supervising department

Department of Environmental Geosciences

Electronic approval: 12. 4. 2017

prof. RNDr. Michael Komárek, Ph.D. Head of department Electronic approval: 12. 4. 2017

prof. RNDr. Vladimír Bejček, CSc. Dean

Prague on 18. 04. 2017

Official document \* Czech University of Life Sciences Prague \* Kamýcká 129, 165 21 Praha 6 - Suchdol

### Declaration

I **Daniel C. Anyamene**, hereby declare that I'm the author of this diploma thesis. The content herein was independently compiled by me from different sources that are relevant to the subject of this research in addition to my own view of the research outcome. I have listed all data sources, literature and publications from which I acquired the necessary information for the completion of this study.

Signature and date: Daniel C. Anyamene 18/04/2017.

#### Abstract

Industrial contamination in Ostrava region of Czech Republic has left enormous pollution related to the disposal site for mining and smelting waste (tailings, slags) and to the continuous deposition of stack particulates containing metals in the environment. Identifying the sources and pathways of contaminant like Pb is important because its toxicity is known to have adverse effects on human health. Previous studies showed that soils in specific sites around the region had elevated amount of Hg, Cd, Pb, Zn, As and Cu but concentration data alone might not be an efficient tool in ascertaining the main input source of these pollutant. This study aims to compare the isotopic and trace metal concentration data of similar studies in conjunction with metal concentration of selected soil samples around Ostrava in assessing the input of each potential source of contaminant to the environment while taking into account the role of soil mineral and organic matter content in contaminants distribution within the respective soil profiles.

### Keywords: metals, industrial contamination, source, isotopes, Ostrava

### Shrnutí

Průmyslová kontaminace Ostravského regionu v České Republice za sebou nechala obrovské znečištění související se skládkami pro důlní a výrobní odpad (těžební, škváry) a nepřetržité emise částic obsahujících kovy v životním prostředí. Rozpoznávání původu a cest škodlivin jako Pb je důležité kvůli jeho toxicitě a negativnímu vlivu na lidské zdraví. Dřívější studie ukázaly, že půda v určitých místech regionu měla vysoký obsah Hg, Cd, Pb, Zn, As a Cu, ale koncentrační analýzy samotné nejsou účinný nástroj pro zjištění hlavních vstupních zdrojů těchto škodlivin. Tato studie se zaměřuje na porovnání koncentračnícha a izotopových dat o kovech, zejména pak Pb, z podobných studií a koncentrací kovů u vybraných půdních vzorků kolem Ostravy a zjištěných v rámci této studie. Je zhodnocen každý potencionální zdroj kovů, navíc s přihlédnutím k funkci půdních minerálů a organické hmoty na distribuci a mobilitu těchto škodlivých látkek uvnitř příslušných půdních vrstev.

Klíčová slova: kovy, průmyslová kontaminace, zdroje znečištění, izotopy, Ostrava

## Table of contents

1. Introduction
2. Aims of the study2
3. Literature review
3.1. Causes of industrial contamination
3.2. Industrial contaminants in different environmental media4-9
3.3. Bioavailability, speciation and mobility of Pb in the environment9-13
3.4. Techniques of Isotope fingerprinting
4. Research Methods16
4.1. Sampling area16-17
4.2. Sample collection17-18
5. Results
6. Discussion
Conclusions
Sources

### **1. Introduction**

According to Song et al. (2015), urban dust and upper soil horizons are good designators of the spreading of metals and metalloids from human activities. Both are mobile and can be easily suspended by wind or transported in storm water runoff. Dangerous contaminants buildup in soils mainly due to atmospheric deposition from sundry sources and the most significant emanates from industrial activities (mining, chemical, metallurgy, building and electronics industry), fuel burning and transport. Consequently, this fact leads to various distributions of metals in the urban environment as a result of the rapid growth of industries (Madarang and Kang, 2014).

Human contact to metal pollutants through inhalation, direct ingestion and skin contact can negatively affect human health and most metals will harm human internal organs if the safe dose levels are exceeded but this is particularly the case for some poisonous metals such as lead (Pb), chromium (Cr), and cadmium (Cd), which are often referred to as "chemical time explosives". Detecting the origins of metals in the contaminated environment is important to understanding their behavior and to control the dangers of exposure (Zibret, 2012). Origins of metals in urban environments are numerous and often difficult to ascertain and statistical analysis were commonly used to identify the sources and pathways of a metal, these methods usually provide only general evidence on the origins but isotopic fingerprinting which is centered on the ratios of stable and radiogenic isotopes using spectrometry is a more in-depth technique used to designate the sources of various pollutants. Stable and radiogenic isotopes of Zn, Ni, Cu, Pb, and other metals have often been employed to designate the origins of contaminants (Gao et al., 2013).

Certain research have determined Pb isotope (<sup>204</sup>Pb, <sup>206</sup>Pb, <sup>207</sup>Pb, <sup>208</sup>Pb) composition for various environmental means including organisms, atmospheric aerosol, soil, urban dust, sediment (Hu et al., 2015b). At the same time, the metal isotope composition of pollution sources such as coal burning, mining, industrial emissions, vehicle exhaust were also examined (Hu et al., 2014).

### 2. Aims of study

To analyze the metal contents of contaminants and their spatial distributions in the environment and apportion contaminants contribution from different industrial-related sources by comparing it with similar studies that employed metal isotope ratios using soil samples from heavily industrialized Ostrava region of Czech Republic. This will give environmental investigators a better understanding of how to tackle continuous occurrence or in employing remediation technique that is deemed fit for the particular metal contaminant source

### 3. Literature review

Most of the environmental pollution can be traced back to industries of some kind. As a matter of fact, the issue of industrial pollution has taken on grave significance for agencies trying to combat against environmental degradation. Nations facing rapid growth of such industries are finding it to be a grave problem which has to be brought under control immediately

## **3.1.** Causes of Industrial Contamination

## 3.1.1. Lack of effective Policies to Control Pollution

Lack of effective policies and poor enforcement drive allowed many industries to bypass laws made by pollution control board which results into massive scale pollution that affects the lives of many people.

## 3.1.2. Rapid Industrial Growth

In most industrial townships, unplanned growth took place wherein those companies ignored rules and pollutes the environment with both air and soil contaminants.

## 3.1.3. Use of Outdated Technologies

Some industries still use old technologies to produce products that generate large amount of waste. To evade high cost and expenditure, many companies still make use of these techniques in producing high end products.

## 3.1.4. Presence of Large Number of Small Scale Industries

Small scale industries and factories that don't have enough capital and still rely on government grants to run their day-to-day businesses will most likely escape environment regulations by improperly disposing their regular wastes that are toxic.

#### 3.2 Industrial contaminants in different environmental media

Though the main focus of this research is on contaminants in soil, it will be incomplete to skip the discussion of the fate of these contaminants in other environmental media which are directly or indirectly linked to soil.

#### 3.2.1. Soil

Soils are contaminated by metals and metalloids through emissions from the industrial areas, mine tailings, disposal of high metal wastes, paints, land application of fertilizers, animal manures, sewage sludge, pesticides, wastewater irrigation, burning of coal residues, spillage of petrochemicals, and atmospheric deposition (Zhang et al., 2010). Metals and metalloids most typically found at polluted areas are lead (Pb), chromium (Cr), arsenic (As), zinc (Zn), cadmium (Cd), copper (Cu), mercury (Hg), and nickel (Ni) (GWRTAC USA, 1997) and soils are the most important deposits for these contaminants. There are contrasting difference of metals when compared to organic contaminants, which are oxidized to carbon (IV) oxide by microbial action, most metal(loid)s do not undergo microbial or chemical breakdown (Kirpichtchikova et al., 2006), and their whole concentration in soils remains for a long time after introduction (Adriano, 2003). Variations in their chemical forms (speciation) and bioavailability are nevertheless possible.

In the terrestrial ecosystem, soils play an important role in element environmental cycling and accumulate metals in amount orders of degree higher than in water and air (Cottenie and Verloo, 1984). Overall metal content in soils is a valuable evidence for several geochemical applications but frequently, the speciation (bioavailability) of these metals is an added interest in terms of what is biologically extractable (Cottenie et al. 1980). Speciation is the form or phase in which an element occurs (Tack and Verloo, 1995) and is basically a function of the mineralogy and chemistry of soil (Tessier et al., 1979). In terms of bioavailability, sundry species of metals like Pb, Cu, Mn, Cr are more biologically accessible in the ecosystem, bioavailability and the mobility of metals are also linked to each other. Greater concentration of mobile poisonous metals in the soil

column does upsurges the possibility for plant uptake, and animal/human consumption (Ratuzny et al., 2009)

Metals play a role in biogeochemical cycles and are not always fixed in soils; consequently, assessment of their circulation in soils is a key topic in many environmental studies (Salim et al. 1993). Metals are involved in soil minerals as well as bound to different stages of soil particles by ranges of mechanisms, mainly absorption, ion exchange, co-precipitation and complexation. Besides, soil properties for example contents of organic matter, carbonates, oxides as well as soil structure and profile development affects metal movement (Kabata and Pendias, 2001). The evidence of the binding of metals with the different soil phases and constituents is of important interest to determine the links with other living and non-living elements of the environment (Hirner, 1992). However, Cabral and Lefebvre (1998) showed that metal speciation is a more intricate tasks that assessment of total metal contents.

It is extensively documented that to determine the environmental effect of soil contamination, the assessment of the basic physico-chemical characteristics in addition to metal speciation will give more evidence about the possibility for discharge of contaminants and additional derived processes of movement and toxicity (Usero et al., 1998). Hence, in geo-environmental studies of risk determination, chemical segregation among the numerous geochemical phases is more helpful than measurements of total metals contents (Quevauviller et al., 1996). Among the processes to ascertain element speciation, those based on sequential extraction are the most commonly used (Rauret et al., 1988).

Preceding studies in Ostrava presented row concentration data of Hg, Cd, Pb, Zn, Cu, V and Mn in soil and pH (Table 1, Yaroshevsky, 2006). The soil samples were taken in the industrial site of the metallurgical company and from the middle of Ostrava with high traffic concentration; the data showed wide arrays connected to alterations in different contamination degrees of sampling sites.

The determination of metal pollution by means of specific indexes confirmed that urban soils of Ostrava are predominantly moderate to high pollution by Hg, Cd, Pb, Zn, Cu, V

and Mn. Major Component Analysis had confirmed the human sources of metals except manganese, which can originate also from non-anthropogenic sources as a high level contribution factor. This study clearly points out the immediate need to make a concerted effort to tame industrial emissions and to rehabilitate heavily contaminated urban soils alongside with other monitoring of metal levels in urban soils.

According to Table 1 the arithmetic mean and median data of metals have cumulative character in the order Hg < Cd < Cu < Pb < V < Zn < Mn. The average content of metals in the Earth crust was surpassed in all instances of ascertained level

#### Table 1.

Descriptive statistics of Hg, Cd, Pb, Zn, Cu, V, Mn and V in soil samples of Ostrava. N=153. Unit: mg/kg (Yaroshevsky, 2006).

Statistical	Hg	Cd	Pb	Zn	Cu	V	Mn	pН
parameters								
Minimum	0.08	0.05	11.09	60.91	9.76	43.46	263.72	6.93
Maximum	0.25	0.43	174.03	393.08	98.83	181.80	2368.31	7.86

Consequently, high concentration signals the anthropogenic source of the metals contamination in study area, the metallurgical industry and urban dense traffic are common feature for this area. To be precise, Pb and Cu seem to be dominantly associated with traffic, coal combustion (Van Bohemen and Van de Laak, 2003). Other origins of these metals in urban environments can be waste incinerators, pipes, cables, paints, and colors. The soils also accumulate Cu, Pb, Cd, and Hg from atmospheric deposition, irrigation water, applications of fertilizers, pesticides, manures, sewage sludge which can be applied in parks, grass, gardens (Wong et al., 2006). Generally speaking, the industrial origins of metal pollution in Ostrava are majorly from plumes of coal power plants, slags and fly ash of mines and metal smelting plants.

#### 3.2.2. Atmosphere

Dust particles in the air can have a significant consequence on human health. The degree of their influence is linked not only with particle size dispersal but also with the tendency to absorb poisonous and carcinogenic compounds (Chung et al., 2008). Particulate matter (PM) is one of the most important transport conduits of contaminants in the atmosphere. The fundamental origins of PM are anthropogenic and sources can be defined as;

- i. long-distance origins (e.g., particles transported by wind)
- ii. short-distance origins (e.g., re-suspension of road deposited sediments)
- iii. traffic linked sources and other general origins with low impact

PM can also be grouped according to size into; super coarse (>10  $\mu$ m), coarse (2.5–10  $\mu$ m), belonging to the accumulation mode (0.1–2.5  $\mu$ m), ultrafine Aitken mode (10–100 nm) and nucleation mode (15–40 nm) (Hsieh et al., 2009). The coarse particles are formed primarily by re-suspension of dust, demolition and construction works, burnings in local heaters and biogenic origins. Ultrafine particles originate mostly in combustion high-temperature processes and atmospheric reactions (Amann et al., 2006). Particles in the atmosphere are formed by secondary minerals through physical and chemical reactions (gypsum, halite and lecontite) (Song et al., 2014). Particles from metallurgy contain minerals formed during metallurgical processes and minerals used as input raw materials for metallurgical processes (hematite, magnetite), and components from metallurgical manufacture (graphite, akermanite, mayenite, spinel) (Journet et al., 2014).

Metals are present in negligible amount in fossil fuels and biomass and they also can be present in PM. The processing of mineral resources at high temperatures, such as the burning of coal and oils in electric power stations, industrial plants, ore roasting and smelting of non-ferrous metal, melting operations in ferrous foundries, refuse incineration and kiln operations in cement plants results in the release of unstable compounds into the atmosphere. During burning, unstable species in the coal vaporize from the boiler and re-condense as sub-micrometer aerosol particles or on the exteriors of ash particles as the flue gas cools in the convective units. Among the unstable pollutants, arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), lead (Pb) and mercury (Hg) are widely studied because of the health concern related with them. The emissions of these elements by the above processes changes their biogeochemical cycles in the entire human surroundings and to determine these perturbations, wide emission records are essential. In the last years, the mounting interest in this field has been documented in the literature, emission strengths of As, Cd, Pb and Hg was assessed by several international and national groups and agencies. The concentrations of As, Cd and Pb increase noticeably with decreasing particle size from bottom ash through fly ash from control devices to stack fly ash (stack dust) emitted into the atmosphere and seemingly, more than 90% of mercury in coal is released as vapor (Pacyna, 1980). Combustion temperature in the boiler is one of the important factors affecting the extents of metals released, the higher the temperature in a boiler, the larger the releases of unstable elements. Large amounts of As, Cd and Pb are emitted into the atmosphere from usually fired boiler systems burning fuel at temperatures higher than 1650 K.

Research Outcomes from earlier studies show that the total amount of dust particles (PM<sub>10</sub>) during summer at Ostrava region varied between 11.5 and 30.2  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> depending on the sampling site (Barbora et al. 2015). The two figures below show percentages of metals in the sum of all evaluated metals.

**Figure 1** Varying concentration of metals in Ostrava localities during different seasons of the year in PM<sub>10</sub> (Barbora et al., 2015)



Percentages of metals in the sum of metals, summer season.

Percentages of metals in the sum of metals, winter season.

#### 3.2.3. Water

Pollution of aquatic environment by inorganic chemicals has been deliberated as a major threat to the aquatic organisms as well as fishes. The agricultural drainage water containing pesticides, fertilizers and discharges of industrial activities supply the water bodies and sediment with enormous amounts of inorganic anions and metals (ECDG, 2002). Majority inorganic contaminants in water quickly change from aqueous phase to solid phase under physical precipitation and chemical adsorption and are deposited in river's sediment. Nevertheless they can be released again if environmental conditions changes triggering secondary pollution (Zhou et al., 2005)

Metal ions can be assimilated into food chains and bio-accumulates in aquatic organisms to a level that affects their physiological state. Of the effective pollutants are metals which have drastic hostile environmental effect on all organisms, however trace metals such as Zn, Cu and Fe play a biochemical role in the life processes of all aquatic plants and animals; therefore they are still necessary in the aquatic environment in little amounts. Study of metals contents in Odra River, of which 84.9% lies in Poland, 10.4% in Germany and 4.7% in the Czech Republic, showed high levels of Zn, Pb, Cr, Cu and other metals. The environmental problems at the Odra River are initiated by geology and geomorphology, terrain shape, agricultural and industrial activity and localization of major industrial centers, which are: mining (coal, copper), metallurgy (non-ferrous), electroplating plants, pigments production, pesticides, anticorrosive materials, and **power** industry (Adamiec and Rybicka, 2002). Overall, there are about **1700 sources** of pollutions at the Odra River catchment area, out of which 700 considerably influence the environments of the river system.

#### 3.3. Bioavailability, speciation and mobility of Pb in the environment

Several studies on contaminated soils propose that physicochemical soil properties such as pH and clay and organic matter content are the main influences controlling metal toxicity and bioavailability (Janssen et al. 1997). A wide array of analytical instrumentation allows highly precise and sensitive determination of soil sample composition, which is essential for regulatory compliance monitoring as well as for understanding the origins of pollution and the method that can be employed for remediation. Lately, there has been a shift towards the assessment of "environmentally accepted endpoints", an approach based on the understanding that interactions of pollutants with the soil matrix may affect the risk of these contaminants. However, while it is commonly accepted that the overall concentration of metals does not automatically reflect its availability to living organisms, the favored methodologies for determining the bioavailability of metals in the soil have always been debatable (Hamelink et al. 1994). In general, two approaches have been recognized:

1. Extraction processes centered upon the assumption that the leached fraction is considered available. The sum of released metal is studied as a function of the mode of soil extraction: simple aqueous washes, acids, bases, or organic solvents. These and related techniques provide what may be called "bio-accessibility" data, but the final assay is always chemical rather than biological. The underlying statement of this approach is that the less accessible the metal, the tougher would be the conditions necessary to remove it from the soil. In an effort to obtain a direct approximation of the metals released within a human body, the proposed extraction techniques are commonly based on saliva and gastric fluids (Ruby et al. 1999).

2. Bioassays were designed to quantify the result of the tested sample on a test organism after a standard exposure procedure. Such tests attempt to differentiate between the bioavailable fraction of a compound and its overall concentration. Expectedly, the latter procedure often contains biologically inert, unavailable forms of the target compound (Ivask et al. 2004). This phenomenon, often of concern when remediation endpoints to be ascertained carry particular significance for metal contamination

Studies using recombinant bacteria as tools for investigating the bioavailability of Pb in soils have revealed that the presence of carbonate and quartz makes roughly half of the desorbed (potentially available) Pb unavailable to microorganisms, while kaolinite makes almost 90% of the dissolved Pb unavailable. Because of their vast adsorption capacity, Fe-oxide and organic matter are capable of taking up enormous amounts of Pb and do not release any detectable Pb to solution, lessening the bioavailability of Pb (Sauve 2002). It is also shown that the bioavailability of Pb depends on the type of the

soil and the components it comprises of. For example, arid and semi-arid soils which comprises of large amounts of carbonates and have little organic matter will affect differently the solubility of Pb and hence its bioavailability when compared with temperate soils which usually lack pedogenic carbonate but have large extents of organic matter.

Although CaCO3, quartz, and kaolinite desorb significant amounts of Pb, studied polluted soils (150–300 ppm Pb), which are known to contain these three minerals did not release any measurable Pb. It is rational to believe that Fe-oxide and organic matter, that are present in small amounts in these soils have important role in determining Pb bioavailability (Teutsch et al. 2001). The ratio amongst different soil components can determine the extent of Pb pollution which is still unavailable to microorganisms. According to the study results for instance, 1% of organic matter in the soil can complex up to 200 ppm Pb, thus turning it to be unavailable. Bioavailability attentions are of particular concern with respect to remediation of polluted soils because of their great adsorption capacity and their ability to serve as a sink for metals (Heinz et al. 2004). While soils might be considered as polluted based on their total toxic metal loads, cleanup procedure will necessitate bioavailability assays to provide additional evidence that will affect the goals and hence the cost of the remediation efforts by proving that part or even all of the metals in the soil are not available. The study validates the close link between soil composition (i.e., the presence or absence of certain components) and the bioavailability of Pb with a focus on microorganism which might however be different from bioavailability within the digestive system of humans (Heinz et al. 2004).

As soils are significant sinks for Pb, they can also release them into the ecosystem. It is therefore important to comprehend the content, chemistry and geology of Pb in soil as well as the chemical forms. The assessment of specific chemical species or binding forms is difficult and often virtually impossible and for this reason, sequential extraction process are typically employed because they provide information about the fractionation of metals in the various lattices of the solid sample, which is a good compromise method that gives evidence on the environmental contamination. Polluted soils have always been major environmental problems and therefore are subjected to detailed risk assessment and management studies. This assessment gives a relative distribution Pb fraction in the soluble (bioavailable) and insoluble (non-bioavailable form) using spectroscopy to assess their potential environmental influences (Scancar et al., 2000)

Chemical speciation usually controls food chain transport and risk from toxic metals in the environment and in the case of Pb-rich urban soils and dusts, chemical speciation, particle size, and human nutritional factors appear to each be very significant in Pb exposure risk. Furthermore, the ultimate question of speciation is the chemical form of Pb in the duodenum of humans when contaminated soil is included in the diet with meals or between meals (Chaney, 1988).

Prior to phasing out of Pb gasoline in 2000, the major origin of Pb in the environment is from its use as an antiknock additive to petrol and research has repeatedly shown that these small Pb-rich particles reaching the surface of a soil profile mostly remain on or near the surface for a long period. Humans often mix these soils to support growth of plants or cover old contaminated soil with new using amendments as soda or potting soil. Additionally, soil movement by earthworms through macro pores allows mixing of surface soil and transport Pb to deeper strata in the horizon, affecting the Pb concentration at different soil depths (Nriagu and Pacyna, 1988).

Perhaps the most significant aspect of mobility of soil Pb is its ability to be transported into homes and become part of house dust. It is clear from the strong association of soil Pb concentration and house dust Pb concentration in several large surveys that soil Pb contributes to house dust Pb. This is particularly significant because research has shown that smaller dust particles are more easily transferred to the hands and tend to remain on hands longer and normally, particles remaining on hands are <50-100 microns in diameter. Hence higher concentration of Pb in smaller soil/dust particles increases the potential risk of soil Pb, the smaller particle size and greater Pb concentration in the smaller particles both increase the bioavailability of Pb in dust and soil (Duggan *et al.*, 1985). Scientist have employed four general approach to characterize the chemical species of Pb in soils, dusts, and street dusts: (1) Identify crystalline Pb compounds using X-ray diffraction; 2) Determine which compound controls the solubility of Pb in soil solution; 3) Extract soils with different reagents and compare results with known

compounds added to soils; and 4) Add compounds to soil and see if they persist or are altered to other chemical species. The form in which Pb is available depends on a variety of soil properties, such as: the organic matter content, pH, cation exchange capacity, and the activity of microorganisms. These properties of the soil are thus important in the processes of sorption, complexation and immobilization of Pb, and its bioavailability (Park et al., 2011).

It is defined that the major form of Pb in the natural state in soil samples is PbS. During weathering PbS gradually oxidize and have the ability to form carbonates and also to be incorporated in clay minerals, in Fe and Mn oxides and in organic matter. (Pendias et al., 1986).

#### **3.4.** Techniques of Isotope Fingerprinting

Determination of Pb isotope ratios in geological samples may be carried out using a variety of analytical techniques like spectroscopy and in past decade or so, inductivelycoupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) has established itself as an exceptional method for determination of Pb isotope abundances. Measurement of Pb isotope ratios with ICP-MS has been shown to be feasible on all types of environmental samples these can vary from atmospheric aerosols, gasoline, fresh, saline waters and digested samples. If the ICP-MS is used in conjunction with a laser probe, the determination of Pb isotope ratios can also be carried out on solid samples, permitting in situ determination of Pb isotope determinations is helpful in studies of mineral resources and metallogeny in the sense that rapid reliable analysis of samples is permitted at reasonably low cost, the method therefore offers important promise for the future. In this paper, the application of Pb isotope ratios in aqueous or digested soil samples is investigated.

Pb has four natural isotopes: <sup>204</sup>Pb, <sup>206</sup>Pb, <sup>207</sup>Pb, and <sup>208</sup>Pb, and the abundance differences of the last three isotopes is as a result of the radioactive decays of <sup>238</sup>U, <sup>235</sup>U, and <sup>232</sup>Th over geological time as shown in Table 2. The least abundant and the only

non-radiogenic Pb isotope, <sup>204</sup>Pb, have stayed essentially constant at 1.4% in abundance, whereas the abundances of <sup>207</sup>Pb, <sup>206</sup>Pb, and <sup>208</sup>Pb co-vary intensely and depend on when the ore was formed. As a result, the Pb isotopic composition in different types of Pb-containing minerals is subjected a number of processes, including radioactive decay of U and Th to Pb, the relative proportion of U–Th–Pb in the system, and mixing of Pb from different origins (Fature, 1986).

Reaction	Decay constant	Half-life (years)
	(year—1)	
$^{238}\text{U} = ^{206}\text{Pb} + 8^4\text{He} + 6\beta^-$	$1.55125 \times 10^{-10}$	4.468×10 <sup>9</sup>
$^{235}\text{U} = ^{207}\text{Pb} + 7^4\text{He} + 4\beta^-$	9.8485× 10 <sup>-10</sup>	$7.038 \times 10^{8}$
$^{232}$ Th= $^{208}$ Pb+6 $^{4}$ He+4 $\beta$	4.9475×10 <sup>-11</sup>	$1.4008 \times 10^{10}$

Table 2: Decay process of <sup>238</sup>U, <sup>235</sup>U, <sup>232</sup>Th and their half-lives (Fature, 1986)

Several different types of ore deposits and anthropogenic sources of Pb have specific isotope signatures. The facts that U, Th and Pb have different geochemical behaviors, and that Pb isotopic composition of any material is the composite of three autonomous decay chains create the potential for great variability in Pb isotopic composition (Table 2). The typical variations of Pb isotope ratios found in natural materials are: 14–30 for <sup>206</sup>Pb/<sup>204</sup>Pb, 15–17 for <sup>207</sup>Pb/<sup>204</sup>Pb, and 35–50 for <sup>208</sup>Pb/<sup>204</sup>Pb; however values outside of these ranges are not unusual (Doe, 1970). The Pb from each ore carries an exclusive isotopic identity, and Table 3 reviews the Pb isotopic compositions of Chinese Pb ore deposits, coals, and soils.

Nuclide	Lower	level	for	isotopic	Upper	level	for	isotopic
	abundan	nce (%)			abundai	nce (%)		
20401	1.04				1.65			
-• PD	1.04				1.65			
<sup>206</sup> Pb	20.84				27.48			
<sup>207</sup> Pb	17.62				23.65			
<sup>208</sup> Pb	51.28				56.21			

**Table 3.** Relative abundance variations of Pb stable isotopes in terrestrial materials(Rosman and Taylor, 1998).

Isotopic fractionation in Pb does not occur in industrial and environmental processes (Amelin and Neymark, 1998). The Pb isotopic composition of an ore body or anthropogenic origin does not get altered during the conversion to a secondary weathering environment except there is mixing with secondary Pb sources. Apparent Pb isotope fractionation can occur over geological time as a result of parent isotope unbalance between Th and U, rather than daughter Pb isotope fractionation (Amelin and Neymark, 1998). Published data for Fe-Mn crusts show no indication for digenetic restructuring of Pb isotopes (Reynolds et al., 1999). The low relative atomic weight variations among Pb isotopes, and the heavy and biologically toxic nature of this element, result in negligible mass-dependent Pb isotope fractionation in natural physical, chemical, and biological manners (Zhu et al., 2000). Industrial processes seemingly do not change the isotopic composition of Pb either, and Pb retains the isotopic composition of the ore from which it originates after being released into the environment (Ault et al., 1970). As a result, Pb isotope ratios only differ according to their geological origins and the isotopic compositions determined in the samples reflect those of the Pb origins or results of mixing if several Pb sources exist. Due to the advances in analytical methods in the last two decades, analysis of metal isotope composition are used for identifying the metal origin in the environment and for apportioning contribution of different sources (Gelinas and Schmit, 1997).

#### 4. Research Methods

#### 4.1. Sampling area

#### 4.1.1. Brief description

The study area is located in the Moravia Silesian Region of Northeast Czech Republic. The city of Ostrava is dominated by chemistry, metallurgy, building and electronics industries. The soils around the area receive Pb majorly from atmospheric deposition from coal powered plant, metal smelters, mining and other scattered diffuse pollution sources like incinerators and from local heating using low quality fuel (Dolezalova et al., 2014). This locality has been deliberated to be one of the regions with the worst air quality, anthropogenic pollution in this area primarily originates from the heavy steel and coal industries, also from the dense transport structure in the region (Mikuska et al., 2015).

The mining of black coal in Přívoz began in the 18th century and ended as a result of a decreed government contraction program on 30 June 1994. The mining of black coal from the Ostrava Mining Basin (OMB) and Jeremenko area in the 19th and 20th centuries processed a total of 449,995,239 tons with the highest coal production occurring in the 1980s, having a production of approximately  $25 \times 10^6$  tons of coal. Mining took place at a depth of approx. 50 to 1,300 m beneath the surface and the total mining area was 92.91 km<sup>2</sup>, three locations presently have a total of 8 functional mines and 63 closed mines. Additionally, several stationary industrial origins of contaminants (e.g., metals, particulate matter, nitrogen oxides, sulphur dioxide, and benzo (a) pyrene) still exist directly in the city or in the close surroundings (Novak et al., 2003)

#### 4.1.2. Climatic conditions

In Ostrava, the climate is warm and temperate. Ostrava is a city with a significant rainfall even in the driest month with an average annual temperature around 8.6 °C. In a year, the average rainfall is 690 mm with 28mm in January and 100mm in June which

implies that the former period of the year has more atmospheric dispersion tendencies than the latter (Climate-data.org)

## 4.2 Sample collection and preparation

The soil profiles from 6 sites were collected during summer 2016, sectioned into 3 or 4 parts according to the natural development and visible changes within the profile down to the mineral horizon and placed in labeled plastic bags for transport to the laboratory. The sites (see fig.2) were chosen based to the predominant wind direction and position with respect to the main industries in the region.



Fig. 2 Sample collection sites (Francova et al. 2016; Mapy.cz)

Samples were sun-dried and lightly disaggregated and dry-sieved through a 2 mm square-hole stainless steel sieve. Approximately 250 mg of soil was weighed. For coherency each sample was weighed in triplicates and transferred to a Teflon tube for the digestion.

9ml of HNO<sub>3</sub>, 1ml of HF and 3ml of HCl was added to soil sample in each Teflon tube and transferred to the microwave digestion chamber. Decomposition was done using EPA method 3051A. After digestion, the mixture in each Teflon tube was transferred to savillex vessel and placed on a hot plate (100°C) overnight until the liquid portion completely evaporates. The residue was diluted with 20ml of H<sub>2</sub>0, filtered using syringe filters and stored in plastic bottles for metal concentration analysis.



Fig. 3 Graph showing sample digestion in microwave oven using EPA method 3051A

Fig. 4: Graph showing sample digestion in oven using EPA method 3051A

Max internal temperature: 176°C, max pressure: 14.5 bar, max power: 944W.

EPA method 3051A microwave extraction method is aimed at emulating extraction using conventional heating with nitric acid (HNO3), or alternatively, nitric acid and hydrochloric acid (HCl), according to EPA Method 200.2 and Method 3050 and is not intended to accomplish complete digestion of the sample (USEPA, 2007).

### 5. Results

The average concentration of 7 metal(loid)s in each soil samples are summarized in Table 4. Metal contents ranged from 1.92  $\mu$ g/g in (Cd in site 10) to 671.14  $\mu$ g/g (Cr in site 6) owing to various enrichments in the natural environment and the different emission intensities from human activities.

Sites	Cd	Cr	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Pb
1	2.01	262.06	110.59	67.59	327.93	37.91	89.45
6	2.44	671.14	234.89	202.82	684.82	81.45	290.19
7	2.84	550.80	124.79	128.54	433.17	53.96	197.26
9	2.96	349.49	151.26	120.29	500.12	68.51	216.67
10	1.92	216.96	80.03	52.38	196.91	44.64	116.41
13	2.40	284.25	60.38	41.96	345.06	35.99	173.54

Table 4: Average metal concentration in soil  $(\mu g/g)$ 

From the result in Table 4, corresponding highest and lowest concentration is; site 9 and 10 for Cd, site 7 and 10 for Cr, site 6 and 13 for Ni, site 6 and 13 for Cu, site 6 and 10 for Zn, site 6 and 13 for As, site 6 and 1 for Pb respectively. This data is also presented on a bar chart as shown in fig. 4.



The bar chart in fig. 5 further designates that site 6 is probably most contaminated with highest overall metal concentration and site 10 as the least and since this research is primarily focused on Pb contamination, it will be necessary to present a more comprehensive data of Pb concentration in all sample sites with respect to depth (see Table 5 and fig.5.1-5.6)

Site 1	0-2cm	67.54
	2-10cm	42.63
	10-20cm	118.83
	20-Xcm	94.42
Site 6	0-16cm	497.17
	16-Xcm	152.20
Site 7	0-15cm	257.16
	15-30cm	237.79
	30-Xcm	121.94
Site 9	0-15cm	266.87
	15-35cm	159.03
	35-Xcm	222.86
Site 10	0-2cm	123.41
	2-Xcm	112.41
Site 13	0-10cm	192.61
	10-20cm	119.46
	20-Xcm	232.94

Table 5: Average Concentration of  $^{208}$ Pb/depth in  $\mu$ g/g

As expected, the Pb concentrations at the sampling points revealed a marked variation in the degree of pollution within the sampling areas; more so, Pb concentration in all soil depth identifies soils in industrial, mining and transport areas as contaminated on grounds of ecological risks. At sampling site 6, the uppermost layer (0–16 cm) can also be classified as heavily polluted likely due less organic matter content with lesser

probability of getting bound to an upper mineral layer (rich in Fe-oxides and CaCO<sub>3</sub>), hence resulting in free Pb at that depth. Pb concentration in sampling site 6, 7 and 10 has a negative correlation with respect to depth while reverse is the case at sampling point 10 despite the presence of 3 active coal mines around the location which should have a higher surface concentration of Pb as it will be expected. This is likely that the surface of the latter has more organic matter content with higher affinity to form complexes with Pb which in turn have lower dissolution. There is no observed linear correlation of Pb concentration and soil depth at sampling site 1, 9 and 13 probably due to mixing of the layers with uneven distribution of mineral and organic matter content.

This study found that both the average Pb concentration of all sample site depth would be above the maximum tolerable (permissible) limit according to World Health Organization (WHO) permissible limit of 100 ug/g in the blood assuming the same undiluted concentration was to be maintained after ingestion or inhalation(Osio, 2009). According to Shantha et al. (2005) who recommended maximum permissible levels of Pb in soil based on the dose response relationship of lead in soil and blood Pb in children stated that an acceptable level of 600 ug/g of lead in soil is a "safe" level and would contribute no more than 5 µg/dl to total blood Pb of children under 12 years of age.

It is relevant to state that recent data indicates that there may be neurotoxic effects of Pb at lower levels of exposure than previously anticipated. Children are the most vulnerable segments of the population for exposure to Pb. This increased susceptibility results from combination of several factors for instance young children are more likely to play in dirt and place their hands and other objects in their mouth, thereby increasing the chance for soil ingestion, the efficiency of Pb absorption from the gastrointestinal tract and the permeable blood–brain barrier is greater in children than adults and nutritional deficiencies of iron, calcium, iron, copper and zinc which are predominant in children, may facilitate Pb absorption and exacerbate the toxic effect (Vasudevan and Streekumari, 2000).

Some characteristic clinical features of lead poisoning may be attributed to this specific anatomical pattern. Although the molecular targets for Pb are unknown, a vast amount of evidence accumulated over many years has shown that Pb disrupts processes that are regulated by calcium. Picomolar concentrations of Pb can replace micromolar concentrations of calcium in a protein kinase C enzyme assay. Furthermore, Pb activates protein kinase C in intact cells and induces the expression of new genes by a mechanism dependent on protein kinase C which leads to neurotoxicity (Bressler et al., 1999). The cellular, intracellular and molecular mechanisms of Pb neurotoxicity are copious, as it impacts many biological activities at different levels of control: at the voltage-gated channels and on the first, second and third messenger systems. These effects could be related to Pb ability to interfere with the regulatory action of calcium in cell functions (Finkelstein et al., 1989). At a neuronal level, exposure to lead alters the release of neurotransmitter from presynaptic nerve endings. Spontaneous release is enhanced and evoked release is inhibited. The former may be due to activation of protein kinases in the nerve endings and the latter to blockade of voltage-dependent calcium channels. This disruption of neuronal activity may, in turn, alter the developmental processes of synapse formation and result in a less efficient brain with cognitive defects (Bressler et al., 1999).













Fig. 5.1-5.6 showed a significant difference in Pb concentrations depth pattern at the respective sample point. The distinct high concentration of Pb at site 6 mainly occurs due to several sources of contaminants around the sampling location. Black coal heating power plants are the likely sources of contaminants in sample Site 1 of **Poroba** locality of Ostrava and from Poland which have common coal basin, hence resulting in increased production of fly ash in large quantities from partial combustion of low quality coal with high ash content. Many elements (major and trace) are preferentially incorporated or remain linked with fly ash particles during coal burning (Roy et al., 1981). Chemically, coal fly ash is composed of ferro–alumino–silicate minerals containing substantial

quantities of Ca, K and Na, along with other trace elements such as Cu, Zn, Mn, Mo, Ni and Se (Jastrow et al., 1981). Co, Cr, Cu and Ni remain linked with the iron oxide fraction and the elements with relatively low mobility (Cr, Cu, Pb and V) (Nugteren et al., 2002).

In Ostrava sampling site, the concentration of metals in fly ash deposited soils was found to be in the order Zn>Cr>Pb>Ni>Cu>As>Cd. In general, the background concentration of the metal is lower compared to field samples whereas the amount of metals that can become bioavailable is more in backgrounds samples compared to the field samples. The organic fraction is also a significant host to these elements and can be released to environment on oxidation of organic matter. It is important that the metal concentration in the residual fraction represents a very crucial part of total metal concentration in fly ash. This shows that after dumping of fly ash, the concentration of mobile metals increases and is dependent on changing environmental factors. This mobile fraction will be easily available to the terrestrial and aquatic systems. Since a number of potentially hazardous chemical elements are released from fly ash, resulting from burning of coal for electric power generation, the movement of these chemicals into water and food chain is of serious concern.

Overall concentration of metals in sample site 6 and 7 is evident from the mixture of contaminants sources around **Privoz** and **Radvanice** locality through the regular use of coke in steel production and other non-ferrous metal smelting. In these localities, it will also be worthy to note the area is home to **Arcelormittal**, one of the largest metal producing companies in Ostrava region of Czech Republic. The principal sources of pollution caused by smelting are contaminant-laden air emissions and processed wastes such as wastewater and slag. One type of pollution attributed to air emissions is acid rain, the smelting of sulfide ores results in the emission of sulfur dioxide gas, which reacts chemically in the atmosphere to form a sulfuric acid mist. As this acid rain falls to the earth, it increases the acidity of soils which initiates high mobility and possible leaching of metal contaminants around the surrounding of the smelter. New technologies are playing an important role in reducing or even preventing smelter pollution. Older

smelters may have emitted most of the airborne contaminants around these localities and at present, almost all of it is captured prior to emission using new technologies.

The variations in concentration of metal in these localities might likely result from predominant wind direction, distance from the smelting plants and laboratory extraction process. Cr, Cd, Pb, Ni and Zn had concentration above 100mg/g which by far exceeds background concentration. Various previous studies have provided a measure of the distances which can be reached by smelter emissions. Zoltai (1988) found above-background concentrations of Pb, Zn, Cu and As in peat up to 100 km from the Flin Flon base metal smelter in Canada. Elevated concentrations of Pb, Zn, Cd, Cu and Ni was found in peat 42 km away from a smelter in Noranda, Quebec

Three active mines located around **Petrivald** and **Orlova** localities are closer to sample site 9 and 10. Plumes from black coal and tailing dumps occurring there are composed of rock material, which were the remains of deep mining of hard coal. Bodies of tailing dumps formed not only the rock material but also contain residual materials from treatment of coal. Mining activities produced large amounts of wastes that were a major anthropogenic source of metal pollution, the exploitation of lignite coal mines can cause severe destruction both in lignite coal mine area and elsewhere (Hu et al., 2002).

The location of sampling site 13 around the main city of Ostrava designates that the major sources of contaminants are from combustions of vehicular exhaust and three industrial objects in the area.

#### 6. Discussion

Disturbing information is that most of the studied metals are accumulated in particles of grain size PM1-2.5 during emission and it is known that these particles can penetrate deeply into pulmonary alveolar. A study of Particulate matter at the localities Ostravice, Ostrava Marianské Hory, and Ostrava Radvanice, recorded higher magnitudes of most metals in PM  $< 0.949 \,\mu$ m were found. Cr and Zn are frequently accumulated in the dust particles with a diameter greater than 1.6  $\mu$ m, Zn occurred at 8 of 10 localities in PM > 1.6 µm, only the localities Ostrava Marianské Hory and Ostrava Radvanice were different. Pb and Cd occurred mainly in the class below 0.949 µm. At 8 of 10 localities, Cd occurred in the particle size class PM  $< 0.949 \,\mu$ m, with the exclusion of Hradec nad Moravicí and Ostrava Poruba (Sykorova et al., 2017). The impact of metallurgical industry on the basis of metals in the individual particle size classes in the air within the Moravian-Silesian Region has not been explicitly proven. In the samples taken, the microanalysis was used to detect particles that are formed during metallurgical processes: Fe-oxides containing Co, Cr, Cu, Mn, Ni, and Zn, and iron-based particles based on silicates containing: Ca-Mg-K in various magnitudes originating from combustion processes. Further, in particles below 1 µm, sulphates of Zn-Fe and Pb-Ca, which affect the correlation between the content of Fe and Pb, were proven (Sykorova et al., 2017).

This result has affirmed the assertion by Sucharová et al., 2008 that average Pb concentrations in Ostrava soils have constantly decreased since 1991. The causes of this Pb concentration reduction were a decreasing industrial production, mainly in the metallurgical industry, a strong reduction of industrial burning of brown coal, the desulphurization of the coal power plants (1994–1998) and the fact that leaded petrol was fully phased out in the year 2000. Car traffic has however considerably increased since 1995 and related factories have operated at the Polish site of this black coal basin area. The Pb emissions in the Ostrava region are characterized by a relatively high  $^{206}$ Pb/ $^{207}$ Pb and a very low  $^{204}$ Pb/ $^{206}$ Pb. Though local variation is high of Pb concentrations there is clearly a pattern of unusually high Pb values all along from

Ostrava in the east to the Ore Mountains along the border between Germany and the Czech Republic in the west.

Isotopic fingerprinting relies on the subtle differences in isotopic abundance to identify the specific sources of Pb found in the samples. When Pb isotopic ratios are measured using mass spectrometer, a standard reference material (e.g., NIST SRM-981) is necessary to calibrate the mass spectrometers and to standardize the measured ratios of the four Pb isotopes. Isotopic fingerprint of Pb can only be found in <sup>206</sup>Pb, <sup>207</sup>Pb, and <sup>208</sup>Pb as the abundance of <sup>204</sup>Pb is almost constant (at w1.4%). The isotopic compositions of different potential Pb sources gotten from direct measurements and literature can be plotted on a diagram using two of the isotope ratios of <sup>206</sup>Pb, <sup>207</sup>Pb, and <sup>208</sup>Pb, e.g., <sup>206</sup>Pb/<sup>207</sup>Pb (commonly used in environmental studies, while <sup>207</sup>Pb/<sup>206</sup>Pb is used in geochronology studies) and <sup>208</sup>Pb/<sup>206</sup>Pb. By plotting the Pb isotopic compositions of the samples from the contaminated site, the main sources of the Pb can be designated based on the similarity of isotopic fingerprints. From the abundances of <sup>206</sup>Pb, <sup>207</sup>Pb, and <sup>208</sup>Pb measured in the samples, contributions of up to three major Pb sources can be apportioned (Sangster et al., 2000). Given the potential intersection of isotopic signatures of Pb from different sources, and the coincidental overlap with many natural leads, the Pb isotope data should be interpreted in their specific context and substantiated with other information in lead pollution investigation. When several potential Pb origins co-exist, source apportionment should be supported with other evidence such as (1) meteorology, (2) documentation of origin emission levels or the geological origins of the constituent leads, (3) isotopic or other elemental compositions of those sources, and (4) sequential fashions of environmental Pb isotopes (Sangster et al., 2000). One of the hopeful new developments in the application of isotopic fingerprinting is the combination of this technique with geospatial analysis tools. Lately, researchers have coupled isotopic data with geographic information system (GIS) mapping in source distinction of lead pollution in the surface environment, particularly in urban settings (Caravanos et al., 2006).

The connecting of pollution and geospatial databases via GIS mapping allows the direct assessment of the relative information based on geographical patterns. According the

composite geochemical map produced, GIS spatial analysis techniques can be used to designate hot-spot areas and to assess the potential origins of pollutants in the region (Li et al., 2004). It is expected that the assimilation of GIS-based frame can lead to better assessment of lead pollution and development of cost effective alleviation actions. The development of techniques capable of direct isotope ratio measurements on solid samples requiring minimum sample preparation would substantially expand the application range of Pb isotopic fingerprinting. Combined with multiple ion collection, ICP-MS has become an established method for high precision isotope analysis with a performance comparable to MCTIMS (Pickhardt et al., 2005). Pb isotope ratios of standard reference materials SRM-610, SRM-981, and BCR-2G have been measured using this technique with results comparable to those obtained with TIMS, Pb isotope ratios in buttons obtained from fire assay of platiniferous ores, layered paint chips, and lake sediments have also been determined by this technique (Aries et al., 2001). ICP-MS can be employed as a swift analytical method for precise and accurate isotope ratio measurements (down to 0.005% with multiple ion collection) on solid samples (Aries et al., 2001). Its outstanding sensitivity and very low detection limits allow for measurement of isotope ratios with very small sample amounts, and require in general no or only simple preparation steps for solid samples. As a method with high sensitivity, comparable precision and accuracy, and requiring no complicated sample preparation procedure, ICP-MS is expected to partly replace the use of TIMS in future (Aries et al., 2001). This method will greatly simplify measurements of Pb isotope ratios in solid matrices, such as soils and sediments, in environmental studies, though the comparatively lower analytical precision (compared to TIMS) limits its application to cases where the isotopic signatures vary considerably among different Pb sources. Future research directions of Pb isotopic fingerprinting are primarily set by the state of the art in analytical instrumentation and method development.

### Conclusions

Combination of Pb concentration in the soil samples from Ostrava and Pb isotope data from comparative studies shows that the major plausible source of anthropogenic Pb in Ostrava are the industrial emissions. However other sources responsible for lead pollution may be difficult to identify due to presence of Pb in multiple sources. Conventional approaches rely heavily on the statistical analysis of large databases of environmental samples and human subjects to identify the pollution sources whereas isotopic fingerprinting technique serves as better alternative in establishing the sources of lead pollution and apportioning their contributions. With a high discriminatory power, this tool requires the analysis of a small number of samples. To obtain the best results, Pb isotopic ratios should be used in conjunction with other data, such as concentrations and mineralogical compositions, and assisted with tools such as geospatial analysis, when applied to identify the sources and transport pathways of Pb in the environment. Increased availability of instrument and development of new analytical instrument requiring minimum sample preparation are expected to make this method more prevalent in future source apportionment of contaminants using Pb isotope fingerprinting.

### Sources

A.K. Pendias, H. Pendias 1986. Trace Elements in Soils and Plants, CRC press, FL, p. 154.

Abouchami, W., Galer, S.J.G., Koschinsky, A., 1999. Pb and Nd isotopes in NE Atlantic Fe–Mn crusts: proxies for trace metal paleosources and paleocean circulation. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 63, 1489–1505.

Adamiec E. & Helios Rybicka, E. (2002a). Distribution of pollutants in the Odra river system. Part IV. Heavy metal distribution in water of the upper and middle Odra river, 1998–2000. Polish Journal of Environmental Studies, 11(6), 669–673.

Aleksander-Kwaterczak, U. (2004). Rozmieszczenie metali ciezkich w pionowych profilach osadow wybranych rzek Polski (Heavy metals distribution in the sediment cores from the selected rivers in Poland). Ph.D. Thesis, The Main Library of the AGH University of Science and Technology, AGH in Krakow, p. 126.

Amann, R. Derwent, B. Forsberg, F. Hurley, M. Krzyzanowski, B. Kuna-Dibbert, S. Larssen, F. De Leeuw, S.J. Liu, J. Schneider, P.E. Schwarze, D. Simpson, J. Stedman, P. Straehl, L. Tarrasón, L. Van Bree 2006. Health Risks of Particulate Matter from Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution World Health Organization, Denmark.

Amelin, Y.V., Neymark, L.A., 1998. Lead isotope geochemistry of Paleo Proterozoic layered intrusions in the eastern Baltic Shield: inferences about magma sources and U–Th–Pb fractionation in the crust–mantle system. Geochimica et Cos-mochimica Acta 62, 493–505

Aries, S., Motelica-Heino, M., Freydier, R., Grezes, T., Polve, M., 2001. Direct determination of lead isotope ratios by laser ablation-inductively coupled plasma quadrupole mass spectrometry in lake sediment samples. Geo-standards and Geoanalytical Research 25, 387–398.

Bi, X., Liang, S., Li, X., 2013. A novel in situ method for sampling urban soil dust particle size distribution, trace metal concentrations, and stable lead isotopes. Environ. Pollut. 177, 48-57.

Biasioli, M., Barberis, R. and Ajmone-Marsan, F. 2006. The influence of a large city on some soil properties and metals content. Science of the Total Environment, 356, 154 – 164.

Bontidean, I., Mortari, A., Leth, S., Brown, N. L., Karlson, U., Larsen, M. M., et al. 2004. Biosensors for detection of mercury in contaminated soils. Environmental Pollution, 131, 255, 262. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2004.02.019.

Bressler J, Kim KA, Chakraborti T, Goldstein G 1999. Molecular mechanisms of lead neurotoxicity. [Review]. Neurochem Res; 24: 595±600.

Cabral AR, Lefebvre G 1998. Use of sequential extraction in the study of heavy metal retention by silty soils. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution; 102(3-4):329–344.

Campanella L, D'Orazio D, Petronio BM, Pietrantonio E 1995. Proposal for a metal speciation study in sediments. Analytica Chimica Acta; 309(1–3):387–393.

Caravanos, J., Weiss, A.L., Jaeger, R.J., 2006. An exterior and interior leaded dust deposition survey in New York City: results of a 2-year study. Environmental Research 100, 159–164.

Chaney, R.L. 1988. Metal speciation and interaction among elements affect trace element transfer in agricultural and environmental food-chains. pp. 219-260. <u>In</u> Kramer, J.R. and Allen, H.E. (eds.) Metal *Speciation: Theory, Analysis, and Application*. Lewis Publishers, Chelsea, MI.

Cheng, H., Hu, Y., 2010. Lead (Pb) isotopic fingerprinting and its applications in lead pollution studies in China: a review. Environ. Pollut. 158, 1134-1146.

Christoforidis, A., Stamatis, N., 2009. Heavy metal contamination in street dust and roadside soil along the major national road in Kavala's region, Greece. Geo-derma 151, 257-263.

Cottenie A, Camerlynck R, Verloo M, Dhaese A 1980. Fractionation and determination of trace elements in plants, soils and sediments. Pure and Applied Chemistry; 52(1):45–53.

Cottenie A, Verloo M. Analytical diagnosis of soil pollution with heavy metals, 1984. Fresenius Journal of Analytical Chemistry. 317(3-4):389–393.

Davis, A.P., Shokouhian, M., Ni, S., 2001. Loading estimates of lead, copper, cadmium, and zinc in urban runoff from specific sources. Chemosphere 44, 997-1009.

Díaz-Somoano, M., Kylander, M.E., López-Antón, M.A., Suárez-Ruiz, I., Martínez-Tarazona, M.R., Ferrat, M., Kober, B., Weiss, D.J., 2009. Stable lead isotope compositions in selected coals from around the world and implications for present day aerosol source tracing. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43, 1078-1085. Doe, B.R., 1970. Lead Isotopes. Springer-Verlag, New York.

Doležalová Weissmannová H., Pavlovský J and Chovanec, P, 2014. *Heavy metal Contaminations of Urban soils in Ostrava, Czech Republic: Assessment ofMetal Pollution and using Principal Component Analysis*. Int. J. Environ. Res., 9(2):683-696, Spring 2015 ISSN: 1735-6865

Duggan, M.J., and Inskip, M.J. 1985. Childhood exposure to lead in surface dust and soil: A community health problem. *Public Health Rev.* 13:1-54.

ECDG. 2002. European Commission DG ENV. E3 Project ENV. E.3/ETU/0058. Heavy metals in waste, final report.

EPA, 2007. Microwave assisted acid digestion of sediments, sludges, soils, and oils. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-12/documents/3051a.pdf

F. Amato, M. Pandolfi, T. Moreno, M. Furger, J. Pey, N. Bukowiecki, A. Prevot, U. Baltensperger, A. Alastuey, X. Querol 2015. Mineralogy and geochemistry of inhalable road dust particles in three European cities, Macla, 15, pp. 29–30

Fature, G., 1986. Principles of Isotope Geology. John Wiley and Sons, New York.

Feng, R., Machado, N. & Ludden, J. 1993: Lead geochronology of zircon by laser-probe inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (LPICPMS). Geochimica Cosmochimica Acta 57, 3479-3486.

Franco-Uría, A., Lopez-Mateo, C., Roca, E., Fernandez-Marcos, M.L., 2009. Source identification of heavy metals in pastureland by multivariate analysis in NW Spain. J. Hazard. Mater. 165, 1008-1015.

Gelinas, Y., Schmit, J.P., 1997. Extending the use of the stable lead isotope ratios as a tracer in bioavailability studies. Environmental Science and Technology 31, 1968–1972.

Gelinas, Y., Schmit, J.P., 1997. Extending the use of the stable lead isotope ratios as a tracer in bioavailability studies. Environmental Science and Technology 31, 1968–1972.

Granero S., Domingo, J.L., 2002. Levels of metals in soils of Alca ade Henares, Spain: human health risks. Environ. Int. 28, 159-164.

GWRTAC 1997. "Remediation of metals-contaminated soils and groundwater," Tech. Rep. TE-97-01, GWRTAC, Pittsburgh, Pa, USA, GWRTAC-E Series.

Hamelink, J., Landrum, P. F., Bergman, H. L., & Benson, W. H. (1994). Bioavailability: physical, chemical and biological interactions. Boca Raton: CRC.

Heinz, H. G., Hoffman, J. D., & Audet, J. D. (2004). Phosphorus amendment reduces bioavailability of lead to mallards ingesting contaminated sediments. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 46, 534–541. doi:10.1007/s00244-003-3036-3.

Helios Rybicka, E., & Strzebonska, M. (1999). Distribution and chemical forms of heavy metals in the flood 1997 sediments of the upper and middle Odra River and its tributaries, Poland. Acta Hydrochimica et Hydrobiologia, 27,331–37.

Hirner AV 1992. Trace element speciation in soils and sediments using sequential chemical extraction methods. International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry; 46(1-/3):77–85.

Hsieh, S.-Ch. Kuo, Ch.-L. Chen, Y (2009). Tsai. Size distributions of nano/micron dicarboxylic acids and inorganic ions in suburban PM episode and non-episodic aerosol Atmos. Environ., 43, pp. 4396–4406.

Hu X Y, He J Z, Gao Y Z and Liu F (2002), "Soil remediation in mining and control to acid water" Protect measure soil enviro vol.3, pp.135–140.

Ip, C.C.M., Li, X.D., Zhang, G., Wong, C.S.C., Zhang, W.L., 2005. Heavy metal and Pb isotopic compositions of aquatic organisms in the Pearl River Estuary, South China. Environ. Pollut. 138, 494-504.

Irmer, U. (1997). Bewertung der Ergebnisse aus der Elbeschadstoff-Forschung. IKSE -Workshop, Geesthacht, pp. 36–40

Ivask, A., Francois, M., Kahru, A., Dubourguier, H. C., Virta, M., & Douay, F. (2004). Recombinant luminescent bacterial sensors for the measurement of bioavailability of cadmium and lead in soils polluted by metal smelters. Chemosphere, 55, 147–156. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere. 2003.10.064.

Janssen, R. P. T., Posthuma, L., Baerselman, R., & Den Hollander, H. A. (1997). Equilibrium partitioning to heavy metals in Dutch field soils. II. Prediction of metal accumulation in earthworms. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 16, 2479–2488. doi:10.1897/1551-5028 (1997)016<2479:EPOHMI>2.3.CO;2.

Joshi U. M. and Balasubramanian R. (2010). Characteristics and environmental mobility of trace elements in urban runoff. Chemosphere, 80, 310 - 318.

Journet, Y. Balkanski, S.P. Harrison 2014. A new data set of soil mineralogy for dustcycle modeling Atmos. Chem. Phys., 14, pp. 3801–3816 Kabata-Pendias A, Pendias H 2001. Trace elements in soils and plants. 3rd edition. Boca Raton, Florida, USA: CRC Press.

Konieczynski, J., Zajusz-Zubek, E., Jabłonska, M., 2012. The release of trace elements in the process of coal coking. Sci. World J. 2012, 1e8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1100/2012/294927.

Li, X., Lee, S.L., Wong, S.C., Shi, W., Thornton, I., 2004. The study of metal contamination in urban soils of Hong Kong using a GIS-based approach. Environmental Pollution 129, 113–124.

Liu, E., Yan, T., Birch, G., Zhu, Y., 2014. Pollution and health risk of potentially toxic metals in urban road dust in Nanjing, a mega-city of China. Sci. Total Environ.476e477, 522-531.

Lund W 1990. Speciation analysis—why and how? Fresenius Journal of Analytical Chemistry; 337(5):557–564.

Maas S., Scheifler R., Benslama M., Crini N., Lucot E., Brahmia Z., Benyacoub S. and Giraudoux P. (2010). Spatial distribution of heavy metal concentrations in urban, suburban and agricultural soils in a Mediterranean city of Algeria. Environmental Pollution, 158, 2294 – 2301.

Madarang, K.J., Kang, J., 2014. Evaluation of accuracy of linear regression models in predicting urban storm water discharge characteristics. J. Environ. Sci. 26, 1313-1320.

Marie Opálková and Šárka Cimalová 2011. Analysis of synanthropic vegetation in the territory of the city of Ostrava.– Čas. Slez. Muz. Opava (A), 60: 201-212.

Mason, C. F. 2002. Biology of freshwater pollution. 43<sup>rd</sup> ed. Essex Univ. England. pp. 387

Mehmet Yamana, Yusuf Dilginb, Seref Gucer 2000. Speciation of lead in soils and relation with its concentration in fruits. Analytica Chimica Acta 410 119–125.

Mikuska, P., Krumal, K., Vecera, Z., 2015. Characterization of organic compounds in the PM2.5 aerosols in winter in an industrial urban area. Atmos. Environ. 105, 97e108. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2015.01.028.

MULKOVÁ, M. and POPELKOVÁ, R. (2008) The effects of deep hard coal mining on the landscape development in Lazy Allotment, In Implementation of Landscape Ecology in New and Changing Conditions. Proceedings of the 14th International Symposium on Problems of Landscape Ecology Research, Institute of Landscape Ecology Slovak Academy of Sciences, pp. 295–302 Nelson A, Donkin P 1985. Processes of bioaccumulation: the importance of chemical speciation. Marine Pollution Bulletin;16 (4):164–169.

Nicholson, F. A., Smith, S. R., Alloway, B. J., Carlton-Smith, C. and Chambers, B. J. (2003). An inventory of heavy metals inputs to agricultural soils in England and Wales. Science of the Total Environment, 311, 205 - 219.

Novak, M., Emmanuel, S., Vile, M.A., Erel, Y., Veron, A., Paces, T., Wieder, R.K., Vanecek, M., Stepanova, M., Brízova, E., Hovorka, J., 2003. Origin of lead in eight central European peat bogs determined from isotope ratios, strengths, and operation times of regional pollution sources. Environ. Sci. Technol. 37, 437e445. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es0200387.

Nriagu, J.O. and J. Pacyna. 1988. Quantitative assessment of worldwide contamination of air, water, and soil by trace metals. *Nature* 333:134-139.

Nugteren, H.W., Janssen-Jurkovicova, M. and Scarlett, B. 2002. Removal of heavy metals from fly ash and the impact on its quality, J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 77, 389 -395.

O'Nions, R.K., Frank, M., von Blanckenburg, F., Ling, H.F., 1998. Secular variation of Nd and Pb isotopes in ferromanganese crusts from the Atlantic, Indian and Pacific Oceans. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 155, 15–28.

OECD (1993): Risk Reduction Monograph No.1: Lead. OECD Environment Monograph Series No. 65. OECD Environment Directorate, Paris, France.

Osio V. 2009. Lead pollution from vehicular emissions in urban areas in the Philippines. Soil and its relation to environment, agriculture, global warming, and human health (2009).

Pacyna, J.M. 1980. Coal-fired power plants as a source of environmental contamination by trace metals and radionuclides. Technical University of Wroclaw, Poland (Monographs Series No.17) (in Polish).

Quevauviller P, van der Sloot HA, Ure A, Muntau H, Gomez A, Rauret G 1996. Conclusions of the workshop: harmonization of leaching/extraction tests for environmental risk assessment. Science of the Total Environment; 178(2):133–139.

Ratuzny T, Gong Z, Wilke BM 2009. Total concentrations and speciation of heavy metals in soils of the Shenyang Zhangshi irrigation area, China. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment; 156(1–4):171–180. [PubMed]

Rauret G, Rubio R, López-Sánchez JF, Casassas E 1988. Determination and speciation of copper and lead in sediments of a Mediterranean river (River Tenes, Catalonia, Spain) Water Research; 22(4):449–455.

Reynolds, B.C., Frank, M., O'Nions, R.K., 1999. Nd- and Pb-isotope time series from Atlantic ferromanganese crusts: implications for changes in provenance and paleocirculation over the last 8 Myr. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 173, 381–396.

Roy, W.R., Theiry, R.G., Schuller, R.M. and Suloway, J.J. 1981.Geol. Notes III, State Geol. Surv. No. 96, Champaign III, pp. 69.

Ruby, M. V., Schoof, R., Brattin, W., et al. (1999). Advances in evaluating the oral bioavailability of inorganics in soil for use in human health risk assessment. Environmental Science & Technology, 33, 3697–3705. doi:10.1021/es990479z.

Ryan PC, Hillier S, Wall AJ 2008. Stepwise effects of the BCR sequential chemical extraction procedure on dissolution and metal release from common ferromagnesian clay minerals: a combined solution chemistry and X-ray powder diffraction study. Science of the Total Environment. 407(1):603–614. [PubMed]

S. Khan, Q. Cao, Y. M. Zheng, Y. Z. Huang, and Y. G. Zhu, "Health risks of heavy metals in contaminated soils and food crops irrigated with wastewater in Beijing, China," *Environmental Pollution*, vol. 152, no. 3, pp. 686–692, 2008.

Salim I, Miller C, Howard J 1993. Combined sequential extraction-adsorption isotherm analysis of the heavy metal retention characteristics of a Michigan landfill bottom liner. In: Proceedings of Joint CSCE-ASCE National Conference on Environmental Engineering; Montreal, Canada. pp. 821–828.

Sangster D., Outridge P.M., David W.J. (2000). Lead isotope characteristics of global lead ore deposits of environmental significance, Environmental Research, 8, 115-147.

Santos, I. R., E. V. Silva-Filho, C. E. Schaefer, M. R. Albuquerque- Filho and L. S. Campos. 2005. Heavy metals contamination in coastal sediments and soils near the Brazilian Antarctic Station, King George Island. Mar. Poll. Bull., 50: 85-194.

Sauve, S. (2002). Speciation of metals in soils. In H. A. Alle (Ed.), Bioavailability of metals in terrestrial ecosystems: importance of partitioning for bioavailability to invertebrates, microbes, and plants (pp. 7–37). Pensacola: SETAC.

Scancar J, Milacic R, Strazar M, Burica O 2000. Sci. Total. Environ., 250, no 1-3:9.

Sezgin, N., Ozcan, H.K., Demir, G., Nemlioglu, S., Bayat, C., 2004. Determination of heavy metal concentrations in street dusts in Istanbul E-5 highway. Environ. Int.29, 979-985

Shantha M, Kenneth DR, Terry S 2005. Lead in soil: Recommended maximum permissible levels Environmental Research; 49(1): 136-142.

Song, L. Shao, Q. Zheng, S. Yang 2014. Mineralogical and geochemical composition of particulate matter (PM10) in coal and non-coal industrial cities of Henan Province, North China Atmos. Res., 143, pp. 462–472

Song, N., Ma, J., Yu, Y., Yang, Z., Li, Y., 2015. New observations on PAH pollution in old heavy industry cities in northeastern China. Environ. Pollut. 205, 415-423.

Stigliani, W.M., Doelman, P., Salomons, W., Schulin, R., Smidt, G.R., Van der Zee, S.E.A.T., 1991. Chemical time bombs: predicting the unpredictable. Environ. Sci. Policy Sustain. Dev. 33, 4-30.

Surges, W.T. & Barrie, L.A. 1987: Lead 206/207 ratios in the atmosphere of North America as tracers of US and Canadian emissions. Nature 329, 144-146.

Sýkorová Barbora, Marek Kucbel, Konstantin Raclavský (2015). Composition of airborne particulate matter in the industrial area versus mountain area, VŠB – Technical University of Ostrava, ENET Centre, 17. Listopadu 15, 708 33 Ostrava, Czech Republic.

Sýkorová, B., Kucbel, M., Raclavská, H., Raclavský, K., Matýsek, D 2017., Heavy Metals in Air Nanoparticles in Affected Industry Area, J. sustain. dev. energy water environ. syst., 5(1), pp 58-68, DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.13044/j.sdewes.d5.0133

Sucharová, J., Suchara, I., Holá, M., 2008. Contents of 37 elements in moss and their temporal and spatial trends in the Czech Republic during the last 15 years. Fourth Czech Bio-monitoring Survey Pursued in the Framework of the International Program UNECE ICP-Vegetation 2005/2006. VÚKOZ, Pru° honice, 96pp.

T. A. Kirpichtchikova, A. Manceau, L. Spadini, F. Panfili, M. A. Marcus, and T. Jacquet, 2006. "Speciation and solubility of heavy metals in contaminated soil using X-ray microfluorescence, EXAFS spectroscopy, chemical extraction, and thermodynamic modeling," *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, vol. 70, no. 9, pp. 2163–2190.

Tack FMG, Verloo MG 1995. Chemical speciation and fractionation in soil and sediment heavy metal analysis: a review. International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry; 59(2):225–238.

Tessier A, Campbell PGC, Blsson M 1979. Sequential extraction procedure for the speciation of particulate trace metals. Analytical Chemistry; 52(1):45–53.

Teutsch, N., Erel, Y., Halicz, L., & Banin, A. (2001). The distribution of natural and anthropogenic lead in Mediterranean soils. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 65, 2853–2864. doi:10.1016/S0016-7037(01)00607-X.

Tippayawong, N., Pengchai, P., Lee, A., 2006. Characterization of ambient aerosols in Northern Thailand and their probable sources. Int. J. Environ. Science Technol. 3, 359e369. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF03325945.

U.S. ATSDR 2005. Toxicological profile for lead. (Draft for Public Comment). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Public Health Service. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, Atlanta, U.S.A

UNEP 2006. Review of scientific information on cadmium. UNEP Chemicals, Geneva, 2006 (draft). To the 1979 Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution

UNEP 2008b. Draft final review of scientific information on lead. UNEP Chemical Branch, DTIE

Usero J, Gamero M, Morillo J, Gracia I 1998. Comparative study of three sequential extraction procedures for metals in marine sediments. Environment International; 24(4):487–496.

Van Bohemen, H. D. and Janssen Van de Laak, W. H. 2003. The influence of road infrastructure and traffic on soil, water, and air quality. Environmental Management, 31, 50-68.

Vasudevan DM, Streekumari S 2000. Biochemical aspect of environmental pollution Textbook of Biochemistry for Medical Students. 2nd ed. Jaypee Brothers Medical Publishers, Ltd, New Delhi, India; p.485 – 467.

W. Chung, V.N. Sharifi, J. Swithenbank, O. Osammor A. 2008. Nolan Characterization of airborne particulate matter in a city environment Mod. Appl. Sci., 2, pp. 17–32

W. Smeets, A. Van Pul, H. Eerens, R. Sluyter, D.W. Pearce, A. Howarth, A. Visschedijk, M.P.J. Pulles, G 2010. De Hollander Technical Report on Chemicals, Particulate Matter Human Health, Air Quality and Noise Bilthoven

WHO/UNECE 2007. Health risks of heavy metals from long-range Trans boundary air pollution. Joint WHO/Convention Task Force on the Helath Aspects of Air Pollution. World Health Organization Europe

Wilcke W, Kretzschmar S, Bundt M, Saborío G, Zech W 1998. Aluminum and heavy metal partitioning in a horizons of soils in Costa Rican coffee plantations. Soil Science 163(6):463–471.

Yaroshevsky, A. A. 2006. Abundances of chemical elements in the Earth's crust. Geochemistry International, 44, 48 – 55.

Zhou H., Peng W 2005. Water pollution and water environmental restoration. Beijing chemical industry press, pp. 196-268.

Zhu, X.K., O'Nions, R.K., Guo, Y., Reynolds, B.C., 2000. Secular variation of iron isotopes in North Atlantic deep water. Science 287, 2000–2002.

Zibret, G., 2012. Impact of dust filter installation in ironworks and construction on brownfield area on the toxic metal concentration in street and house dust (Celje, Slovenia). Ambio 41, 292-301.